I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners Brad A Clinefelter and Susan Clinefelter (herein 

"Clinefelter"), seek review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part 

II of this petition. 

This case raises important issues reg~ding adverse possession of vacated 

streets; and important issues regarding the right of parties to rely upon agreed 

Stipulations in settlement of court disputes. 

The lower court held that the mowing of a portion, and occasionally 

parking a boat on a vacated street, which was used as an easement by other 

parties, constituted sufficient evidence for the trial court to award Respondent 

Severson fee title to the disputed area of the vacated street. 

As to the remaining Respondents (U(phoff/Burnell, herein "Uphoff'), the 

lower court held that, in spite of a signed Stipulation, filed in court in 

resolution of a lawsuit, a party signing that Stipulation, could immediate 

violate the Stipulation and be awarded fordoing so by the doctrine of adverse 

possession. 

The Court should accept the review under RAP 13.4(b) (1) and (4) 

because the court's ruling is in conflict with prior court rulings that courts, in 

determining adverse possession, will consider the nature of the possession in 

light of the nature of the property; and because the court's ruling is in conflict 

with prior court rulings enforcing stipulated settlements of court disputes 

between parties. 
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II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 
Petitioners seek review of the decision filed by Division II of the Court 

of Appeals on September 22,2015, affirming the trial court's judgment. A 

copy of the decision is the Appendix. (App. 1 - 25) 

III. ISSUES PRENTED FOR REVIEW 
1. Does the mowing of part of a portion of a vacated street and 

occasional parking a boat on the area, while keeping the area open for 

neighbors to use for ingress and egress, constitute sufficient evidence to show 

adverse possession of the vacated street? 

2. May a party who signed an agreed Stipulation in resolution of a 

court dispute 9ver the use of a vacated street, be awarded by the Court under 

the doctrine of adverse possession the very same property they agreed by 

Stipulation not to claim? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This lawsuit is over a disputed strip of land running north and south 

which is located in the western half of a 50-foot wide vacated right-of-way 

platted in 1899 as "Swan Street", running north and south. The Clinefelters• 

parcel lies to the west of Swan Street, directly across from the Uphoff's 

property and part of the Stevenson's parcels, which lie to the east of Swan 

Street. The Uphoff parcel lies immediately south of Severson's. 

. The Clinefelter's purchased their property in March of2000. At the 

time the area of Swan Street between the Clinefelter and Uphoffproperties 

was overgrown with weeds, little willow trees and tall grass. (RP 11-28; 11-30; 
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11-8, 82) Clinefelter, unaware of the true location of the eastern property 

boundaries, (RP 11-36; 11-54) found on the East side (in Swan street) an old 

fence lying on the ground, covered with vegetation and debris; the cedar post 

had rotted off. (RP-26; 11-5; 11-51). The north and south comers of the fence 

were partially held up by brush, as was one area by the large fir tree located 

between the Severson and Clinefelter lots. (RP 11-27) Clinefelter stood the 

post up and temporarily repaired the fence. (RP 11-26) (FOF 15). 

The Uphoffs' purchased their property in December 2003 and moved 

onto it sometime in 2004. Prior to the Uphoff's purchase the property was a 

mess. (RP 1-29) The property had been trashed (RP 1-174-5). The house was 

vacant, and it was unknown how long it had remained vacant. (RP 1-173). 

Prior to the initiation of this lawsuit in 2011, the Clinefe1ter's and 

Uphoffs got along well as neighbors. (RP 1-183; 11-69) However, when 

Severson's insisted that a chicken coop, which Clinefelter had put up for 

Uphoff, be moved because Severson said it was in the right-of-way easement 

(RP 1-199,200; RP 11-36), both Clinefe1ter and Uphoff began to investigate 

their property boundaries. (RP 1-199), 

Uphoff discovered that a predecessor in title (Hubbard) and the 

C1ine.felter predecessor in title (the Thompson Estate), had settled a law suit 

between them in Jefferson County Superior Court, to resolve use of the disputed 

area in Swan Street. (RP 1-199; 1-203) In the case, the Complaint and Answers 

were filed and it was set for Summary Judgment Motion when it was settled by 

the Stipulation of the parties. The Stipulation was signed by the Personal 
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Representative of Estate of Ted Thompson, the predecessor in title to the 

Clinefelter property and by Florence Hubbard and her current husband, James 

Hubbard, a predecessor in title to the Uphoff property. The Stipulation resolved 

the lawsuit. (RP 1-122; 1-138-140) It was subsequently dismissed by the Clerk 

of the Court for lack of prosecution. 

The Stipulation (a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A) provided (the 

portion in italics has been added): 

"Comes now the parties to this action and herein set forth the 
following agreement by stipulation in settlement of all their respective 
rights and liabilities herein, to wit: 

1. Plaintiff [predecessor in interest of the Clinefelter lots} is the owner of 
Lots 3, 4, 5 and 6 in Block 5 and Lots 15 and 16 in Block ofNolton's 
East Port Townsend Addition, as per plat recorded in Volume 2 of Plats, 
page 46, Jefferson County, Washington. 

2. Defendants [predecessor in interest of the Uphoff lots} are the owners of 
Lots 3, 4, 13 and 14 in Block 6 ofNolton's East Port Townsend Addition 
as per plat recorded in Volume 2 of Plats, page 36, Jefferson County, 
Washington. 

3. Separating the property of the parties is a street known as Swan Street, 
also part ofNolton's East Port Townsend Addition. Swan Street was 
vacated by operation oflaw pursuant to Section 32, Chapter 19 of the 
Laws of 1891 at page 603. 

4. As a result of the vacation of Swan Street both the plaintiff and 
defendants are owners of the one-half of Swan Street abutting their 
respective properties. 

5. Both plaintiff and defendants each grant to the other a permanent 
easement for drainage, ingress, egress and utiliti~s over, across and under 
that portion of Swan Street owned by each party. 

6. Both parties agree that the roadway presently in existence on a portion of 
Swan Street shall remain in its present location but any future utilities 
shall be put in on the side of the roadway owned by the party obtaining 
the utilities and that any roads constructed in the future shall be 
constructed down the center line of Swan Street and an equal distance on 
each side of the center line. 

4 



7. The parties agree that neither shall use the other parties' half of vacated 
Swan Street or the open part of Swan Street for parking or storage or in 
any other manner not reasonably related to the exercise of the parties' 
rights to drainage, ingress, egress and utilities. 

8. Plaintiff shall pay to defendants the sum of $500.00 
9. All other claims and counterclaims of the parties herein are dismissed 

with prejudice. 
I 0. This agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, successors and assigns of 

the parties hereto." 

At trial Florence Hubbard (herein "Hubbard") testified that she was the 

sister-in-law of Severson (RP 1-1 02), and that she purchased what are now the 

Uphofflots in 1977 from Ted Thomson (RP-102, RP- 105). She testified that 

married James Hubbard in 1982, and she and her husband got into a dispute 

with Ted Thomson (the predecessor in title to the Clinefelter property) over 

the use of Swan Street (RP 1-113). She admitted she had signed the 

Stipulation of July 27th, 1983. (RP I-115). 

Hubbard testified that she built a greenhouse in the disputed area in 

1983 but removed it and took it with her when she moved off the property. 

(RP 1-120; I-134).ln addition to a green house, she kept a small garden while 

she lived on the property. She was not certain of their location on Swan Street 

but appeared in testimony to say that the ~arden and greenhouse were about 3 

to 10 feet from the old fence. 

She sold her property to Douglas K.ronquist in 1990. Hubbard testified 

that Kronquist used the property "as a garbage dump" and "let the garden go," 

(1 VRP -123) Hubbard testified that Kronquist did not store anything in Swan 

Street, except possibly his car, but used Swan Street for ingress and egress. 

Hubbard testified that in 1992, when Paul and Elaine Myers bought the parcel, 
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there was nothing in the disputed area, which was open and cleared. The 

Meyers also used Swan Street for ingress and egress, but Hubbard did not 

know if they maintained a garden or anything else in the disputed area. The 

Meyers sold the property to Uphoff in 2003. 

Severson's recollection largely agreed with Hubbard's, but Severson 

also testified that Kronquist maintained Hpbbards' garden "[s]omewhat," (1 

VRP- 26-30). However, as previously stated, there was no evidence of a 

garden only weeds and an overgrown area, when Uphoff purchased the 

property on December 30th, 2003. 

Severson testified that he kept the disputed area mowed and cleared up 

to within two feet of the fence (RP 1-26), except for a large portion of the 

disputed area which he left untouched, a semi-circle around a large fir tree, 

approximately SO foot in diameter in the disputed area, extending beyond the 

center line of Swan Road (RP 1-49; I-53). He also testified that he allowed the 

property to be used as an easement for the Hubbards and for the subsequent 

owners of the Uphoff property. He testified that he always recognized Swan 

Street as a right of way (RP 1-25; 1-96). 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. SEVERSON'S POSSESSION OF THE DISPUTED AREA DOES NOT 

RISE TO THE LEVEL OF ADVERSE POSSESSION AS THE NATURE OF 

THE PROPERTY IS A EASEMENT, A RIGHT OF WAY. 

. Severson was aware of the 1983 lawsuit and knew what it was about. 

(RP I-30-3). Severson always assumed that Swan Street was a right of way. 
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(RP 1 ... 125). Severson allowed Swan Street to be used as a driveway for the 

Hubbards and subsequent owners ofthe Uphoff property. (RP 1-25) Severson 

always recognized Swan Street as a right of way. (RP 1-96). 

Even though Swan Street was vacated, still each abutting landowner 

had easement rights in each other's half of Swan Street. Private easement 

rights acquired by taking title to a Jot referred to in a plat cannot be adversely 

defeated by common grantees. Bukhardv. Bowen, 32 Wn. 2d 613. 623; 203 

P.2d 361(1949). Capitol Hill Methodist Church v. CityofSeattle, 52 Wn. 2d 

359, 324 P.2d 113(1958). 

Severson recognized vacated Swan Street as a right of way and what 

maintenance he did was in the nature of the maintenance of an easement. 

Severson maintained it only as an easement, not as his exclusive 

property. He allowed the neighbors to come and go on it. (RP 1-88) He built 

no permanent structures on it. (RP 1-96) He left the area pretty much 

untouched (RP 1-95), with the exception of mowing some of the area, there is 

no evidence that Severson held the property out as his own against all the 

world. He often allowed access through his property to the Uphoff property 

on Swan Street. No permanent structures were ever placed in Swan Street by 

him or anyone else (RP 1- 97). 

Respondents go to some effort to show that the area was relatively 

unused by the Clinefelters, but the mere nonuse of a recorded easement does 

not support a finding of abandonment of an easement, nor does it support 

adverse possession of the opposing party .. Heg v. Alldredge, 157 Wash. 2d 
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154. 137 P.3d 9 (2006). The adverse use must be shown to be clearly 

inconsistent with the future use of the easement. Edmonds v. Williams, 54 

Wn. App 632. 636; 774 P.2d 1241(1989). 

Severson's and Uphoffs' use of the platted street was not adverse to 

the nature of Clinefelters' ownership of half a vacated street in which all 

retained easements. They built no pennanent structures; nor made any 

permanent changes to the area. 

The Appellate Court pointed out that the Trial Court's assertion in 

Trial.Court finding 8 that "Mr. Severson exclusively occupied that portion of 

platted Swan Street up to the fence, "and the assertion in the Trial Court 

Findings of Fact 14 that "[t]here is no testimony or evidence that the 

Thompson Estate or Clinefelters attempted to use any portion of vacated Swan 

Street for ingress, egress, or drainage" are not supported by substantial 

evidence. (CP at 62-63). The testimony established, and Severson admitted, 

that the Hubbards and other owners whose parcels further south abutted Swan 

Street to the east used the portion of Swan Street adjacent to Severson's parcel 

(I VRP at 73, 88, 126-28) 

The Court in determining adverse possession must consider the 

claimant's conduct in light of the character of the property at issue. Krona v. 

Brett, 72 Wn.2d 535, 539,433, P.2d 858 (1967) (emphasis omitted). The 

nature of this disputed area in Swan Stree~ is that it is an easement and Mr. 

Severson recognized it as an easement and treated it as an easement. The 
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nature of the property is an easement, a right of way and Mr. Severson treated 

as an easement and recognized it as a right of way. 

As the Appellant Court points out. a claimant who shares the disputed 

property with the title owner cannot establish the lirst element of"exclusive·· 

possession. Crite.\· v. Koch. 49 Wn. App.l71, 174, 741 P .2d 1005 (1987) 

B .. THE STIPULATION BARRED FLORENCE HUBBARD FROM 

CLAIMING ADVERSE POSSESSION OF THE DISPUTED AREA 

The law favors the amicable settlement of disputes and is inclined to 

view them with finality. Snyder v. Tompkins, 20 Wash. App. 167. 173.579 

P.2d 994, review denied. 91 Wash. 2d 1001 (1978). So "The Courts look 

upon Stipulations with favor. and, as a rule, will enforce all Stipulations of 

parties or their attorneys for the government of their conduct or the control of 

their rights," 50 Am.Jur. S!ipulalions. section 12 (19.:14). 

Superior Court Rule (CR) 2A 1, entitled ''Stipulations", affirms the 

rights of parties to an action to resolve an action by Stipulation. Symth 

Worldwide Movers Inc. v. Whitney. 6 Wn.App 176. 491 P.2d 1356 ( 1971 ). 

The purpose of this rule is to avoid disputes and to give finality and certainty 

to settlements and compromises if they are made. Eddleman v. Mc.:Ghan. 45 

Wn.'nd 430.275 P.2d 729 (1954). Wash~ngton statutory lav..- (RCW 

1 Rule 2A. STIPULATIONS 
No agn:.:m.:nt or consent h~twccn parties or atlom.:y~ in rcspc~-:1 to the procco:dings in a «.:ausc. !he 
purport of wh;cb is disputo.:d. will b..: n:gardo.:d by the court unh:ss the same shall han: hccn made and 
asso.:nt..:d to in op.:n court on tho.: record. or cntcn:d in the minut..:s. m unless the evidence lhcr.:uf shall he 
in writing and subscrib~d lw the allorncys denying. the Same. 
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2.44.0 I 0( 1 ))2 also accepts Stipulations as binding upon the parties provided 

that they are entered upon the minutes of the court. or signed by the party 

against whom the same is alleged and entered in the court record. Therefore, 

CR 2(a) and RCW 2.44.010 give certainty and finality to settlements and 

compromises. Howard 1'. Dimaggio~ 70 Wn.App. 734. 855 P.2d 335 ( 1993 ). 

The function of the Trial Court is is to implement the agreement of the parties. 

Bctird v. Baird, 6 Wn.App 587. 494 P.2d 1387 ( 1972). 

In Snyder v. Tompkins. 20 Wn. App. 167. 163. 579 P.2d 994, review 

denied, 91 Wash. 2d 100 I ( 1978), the cotirt held that a Stipula6on in open 

court for disposal of real property was a legally enforceable conveyance of 

real property despite the provisions of the statue of frauds. RCW 64.04.020. 

requiring a writing with certain formal requisites to convey real property. In 

In re Estate of Stockman. 59 Wn. App. 711. 800 P.2d 1141, 1990 the court 

held that neither RCW I I. 96.070, pertaining to judicial proceedings for 

determination of rights, nor RCW 11.96.130 (now repealed) pertaining to 

judgments and probate or trust proceedings, provide a means for by-passing 

this rule. A Stipulation entered into open Coutt providing for the sale of 

prope1ty was held binding in Cook v. Vennigerholz. 44 Wn.2.d 612. 269 P.2d 

824 (1954) and in Lasellv. Beck 34 Wn.2.d 211.208 P.2d 139 (1949). In 

2 § 2.44.01 0. Authority of attorney 
An attorney and counselor has autlwrity: 
(1) 

To hind his 1•r her client in uny of the proceedings in an aclion or special proceeding by his nr hi.!r 
agrecmenl duly made. or cnl\:n:d upon thi.! minutes of the court: hut the court shall disregard all 
agrcl!m.;nts unu stipulations in rclt11ion to the conduct ot: or any of th.: proceedings in. an action or 
special proceeding unless such ugrccmcnt or stipulu•-ion be mud~! in open wurt. or in presenco: of the 
clerk. mHI cntcr.:d in the minutes hy him or her. or signed by the party against whom the sam.: is alleged. 
or his or her attorney: 
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Lase/1, the Court recognized that a proper Stipulation would serve to vacate a 

default judgment. In the case of Smyth v. Worldwide Movers Inc. 6 Wn.App. 

176. 491 P.2d 1356 (1971) the Court upheld a Stipulation between the parties 

regarding the sale of real property on foreclosure. 

· The 1983 Stipulation by the Hubbard's and the Thomson estate bars 

Florence Hubbard from being able to claim adverse possession of the property 

that she stipulated she could not adversely possess. The language of the 

Stipulation is plain, and without need of judicial construction. Shine v Nabob 

Silver Lead Co. 163 Wash. 577. A Stipulation properly arrived at is binding 

on the parties. Cookv. Vennigerholz. 44 Wn.2d 612.269 P.2d 824 (1954). 

The Trial Court concluded the Stipulation was effective as a contract, 

but that it "was not effective as a deed conveying an interest in real property 

in accordance with RCW 64.04.010" because it lacked the requirements of a 

deed. However, the Stipulation did not create, transfer, mortgage, assign or 

change title to any real estate; instead it merely recognized what property the 

respective parties already held legal title to. The Stipulation between the 

Hubbard's and the Thomson Estate was the written agreement of those parties 

in recognition and contractual acceptance that each held legal title to the fee of 

their half of Swan Street. 

There is nothing in the Stipulation that would affect title so it is 

required that the Stipulation be recorded or reduced to a Judgement. 

When a platted street was vacated by operation of the former nonuser 

statute codified at Laws of 1889-90, chapter 19, section 32, at 603, until 1909, 
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title to the underlying fee vested in the owners of the adjacent parcels from the 

edge of those parcels to the street's center line. Turner v. Davisson, 47 Wn.2d 

375,385-86,287 P.2d 726 {1955); Curtis v. Zucks, 65 Wn.App. 377,378-79, 

829 P.2d 187 {1992); Wells v. Miller, 42 Wn. App.94, 97-98,708 P.2d 1223 

{ 1985). Purchasers of parcels in the plat, however, retained a right to use the 

platted streets for ingress and egress, which other purchasers and the grantor 

may not deny. Burkhard, v. Bowen, 32 Wn.2d 613,622-24,203 P.2d 361 

(1949); Van Buren v. Trumbull, 92 Wash. 691,695-98, 159 P.891 (1916); 

Curtis, 65 Wn. App. At 379. 

If Hubbard did use the disputed property after she stipulated to the 

estate's ownership of the area, then the Thompson Estate had the right to rely 

upon.her agreement recognizing the estate's ownership of the property. 

Hubbard should not be allowed to claim adverse possession in the face of the 

agreed stipulation resolving use of the disputed area. It works a double 

injustice if Hubbard is allowed to ignore the Stipulation, and then be rewarded 

for doing so. 

In spite of the Stipulation, the Appellate Court held that "Hubbard's 

use could be considered in judging Uphoffs adverse claim." It further 

concluded that since Hubbard was not authorized to put in a garden in the 

disputed area, she did so in a way that was adverse to the Thomson Estate 

under the criteria for adverse possession. Therefore the Appellate Court held 

that Hubbard's use of the disputed property could be used to prove adverse 
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possession and also could be tacked to su~cessive periods of occupation to 

complete the requirement for adverse possession. 

This holding of the Appeal Court encourages parties to immediately 

violate Stipulations they have entered into in settlement of Court disputes, and 

then award them for doing so. Adverse Possession is often a travesty of law, 

encouraging people to steal what is not theirs. In this matter it not only 

encourages a person to steal what is not theirs but also encourages them to 

immediately violate a contact they have entered into in open court in 

resolution of a dispute. The Court, by holding that Florence Hubbard could 

immediately commence to adversely possess what she had agreed by 

Stipulation not to, encourages, and indeed· awards, the ignoring and violating 

of Stipulations made in settlement of lawsuits. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Because Severson did not show that he adversely possessed the 

disputed area, given its nature as a right of way, but allowed it to be used as 

such, and kept it open for such use, his claim to adverse possession of the 

dispu.ted portion the vacated street must fail. 

As Florence Hubbard was a party to the Stipulation, the Court cannot 

award her for violating of tpat Stipulation by granting h(;r the right to take 

property by adverse possession that she stipulated not to take.