I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PARTIES 

Petitioners Brad A. Clinefelter and Susan Clinefelter (hereinafter 

"Clinefelter") seek review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in 

Part II of their petition and attached thereto. They own residential 

property in Jefferson County, Washington, lying Northerly of vacated 

Swan Street together with the North half of the vacated street which would 

attach by operation of law to their residential lots. 

Respondents Dennis Severson, a single person, and Kenneth Uphoff 

and Christine Burnell, husband and wife, are respective owners of adjacent 

(to each other) residential parcels lying Southerly ofvacated Swan Street, 

together with the South half of the vacated street which would attach by 

operation of law to their residential lots. 

The case raises no important issues of law regarding adverse 

possession of the fee underlying a statutorily vacated street. Neither in the 

Court of Appeals, nor here, do Petitioners support necessary appellate 

revision or construction of the existing law applied by the trial court and 

the Court of Appeals, nor new or conflicting authorities on which to review 

the COA decision. 

The trial court heard all the evidence, which consistently concerned 

the nature and uses of36 years of neighbors' treatment ofthe fee 

underlying a well-discussed implied easement in a residential neighborhood. 



It observed and heard all the witnesses, and applied the facts of the case to 

well-briefed existing law. 

There are no issues for appellate resolution regarding the right of 

present parties to rely upon Stipulations in settlement of prior disputes. No 

party here was a party to prior litigation resolved by a 1983 stipulation 

ending civil litigation. Present parties (Clinefelter, and Uphoff/Burnell) 

who are descendants in title from the 1983 litigants had no knowledge, nor 

notice, whether actual, implied or from recorded documents, of the 

existence of the prior litigation and Stipulation, until 2013. 

Respondent Severson was not a party to the 1983 Stipulation, and 

although he may have heard of it, was not bound by it nor shown to know 

the details of it between the parties to it. The trial court was absolutely 

correct that no party in this case was bound by the 1983 Stipulation, which 

simply is not in issue in the present litigation. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed that decision on the facts, and on the law of notice. 

Petitioners complain that Respondents Uphoff/Bumells' remote 

ancestor in title, (Hubbard), breached the 1983 Stipulation as to the 

easement agreement, to which she had been a party. They did not join her 

here, so she had no part in this litigation except as an historical witness. 

Hubbard had never been the subject of action for her admitted breach of 
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the 1983 Stipulation, so her actions could be considered as tacking for 

purposes of determining the period of hostile use of another's land, as the 

Court of Appeals chose to do. She had no claim in the present action, and 

neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals rewarded her in any manner 

for her continued trespass against what is now Petitioners' property. 

The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with the 

prior court rulings that trial courts, in determining adverse possession, will 

consider the nature ofthe possession in light ofthe nature of the property. 

It is also not in conflict with prior rulings that stipulated settlements 

of court disputes will be enforced among the parties to them and among 

their successors in title with actual or record notice of them, but not against 

third parties with no notice of them (here, some thirty years later). 

Petitioners raise no issues deserving or in need of this Court's 

rev1ew. 

ll. RESPONSE TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Petitioner states its first issue for review as: "Does the mowing 

of part of a portion of a vacated street and occasional parking a boat on the 

area, while keeping the area open for neighbors to use for ingress and 

egress, constitute sufficient evidence to show adverse possession of the 

vacated street?" That is a misleading understatement, and in part a mis-
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statement, of the record as found by the trial court and the Court of 

Appeals as to Respondents' use ofthe disputed area for 36 years. 

2. Petitioner states its second issue for review as: "May a party 

who signed an agreed Stipulation in resolution of a court dispute over the 

use of a vacated street, be awarded by the Court under the doctrine of 

adverse possession the very same property they agreed by Stipulation not 

to claim?" This is an inapplicable issue, as no party to the 1983 Stipulation 

was also a party to this action, and no relief nor award was granted to any 

party to the 1983 Stipulation. 

m. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The lawsuit concerned adverse possession claims to the underlying 

fee of a portion of a statutorily vacated street, which remains subject to the 

undefined implied easement rights of ingress and egress by adjacent 

property owners, based on 36 years of occupation of a portion of the 

vacated street by Respondents. 

The Court of Appeals quite adequately, and accurately, summarized 

the controlling facts of the case, which we do not need to repeat here. 

There was disputed testimony in open court to the appearance, 

maintenance and uses ofthe disputed strip ofPetitioners' portion of 

vacated Swan Street, from 1977 to 2013. The trial court exercised its 
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sound discretion in determining the controlling facts upon which base its 

decision. 

IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

In their statement of the issues presented for review, Petitioners 

contend that Respondent Severson kept "the area open for neighbors to 

use for ingress and egress", which we contend is a mis-statement. Division 

II noted that Severson "put in a driveway on the eastern, undisputed half of 

Swan Street side to provide access to Uphoff's parcel" (Severson et.al. V. 

Clinefelter, p. 2, Court of Appeals No. 45596-0-11, unpublished decision, 

2015). That is, the driveway which Mr. Severson put in on his own 

property, for ingress and egress by himself and his adjacent neighbors, was 

not kept open for the general public nor for Petitioners or their ancestors in 

title. The statement of issue, as worded, is misleading. 

Petitioners also again contend that the trial court improperly 

rewarded trial witness Florence Hubbard by granting her adverse 

possession title to a portion of the disputed strip of vacated Swan Street 

despite her admitted violation of the 1983 Stipulation to which she had 

been a party. Florence Hubbard was not a party to the present litigation. 

She was awarded nothing. There is no evidence that she gained or 

benefitted from this litigation at all. While the Defendants were willing to 
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concede that her admitted violation ofthe 1983 Stipulation (from 1983 to 

1990) need not be considered for the "tacking" element of Respondents 

Uphoff/Burnells' adverse possession (in addition to the 1990-2013 acts of 

her successors in title), the Court of Appeals properly declined our 

concession, as Hubbard's breach ofthe Stipulation was hostile in the purest 

legal sense, and remains unnecessary to the trial court's determination of 

more than ten years of adverse possession. This argument of Petitioner is 

quite irrelevant to the facts and legal issues of the case. 

In Petitioners' Petition for Review, Section V. Argument, 

subsection A., they repeat their argument that Respondent Severson's 

possession of the disputed area did not rise to the level of adverse 

possession, as the nature of the property was as an easement, a right of 

way. 

They seriously under-state the nature, extent and consistency of the 

facts as found by the trial court and the Court of Appeals, and there is no 

basis for an argument that the trial court did not consider the nature of the 

occupied property as an implied private easement. 

In Petitioners' Petition for Review, page 7, they cite authority for 

the proposition that their relative disuse of the easement could not support 

a finding of abandonment of a recorded easement, nor to support adverse 
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possession by an opposing party. (Cf Heg v. Aldredge, 157 Wn.2nd 154, 

137 P.3d 9 (2006). This citation and theory was not presented to the trial 

court, nor to the Court of Appeals, and is novel in this context, as 

Respondents never contended for an abandonment of an easement, nor was 

there a recorded or express easement involved as the result here might have 

been different had it been a recorded easement. This Court should 

disregard that new argument. 

And, as to their argument that a claimant who shares a disputed 

property with the title owner cannot establish the first element of 

"exclusive" possession (Pet. For Review, page 9), there is absolutely no 

evidence in the record that Respondent Seversen shared the use of the 

disputed property with Petitioners or their ancestors in title. 

And, again, in their Pet. For Review, page 9 et. Seq, Petitioners 

repeat their arguments to the trial court and the Court of Appeals that the 

law favors enforcement of stipulations among parties to them, for which 

there is ample authority which Respondents have never challenged. But 

those rules and citations of authority have no relevance here. The Court 

of Appeals properly disposed of this argument based on the clear record 

that the 1983 Stipulation was not recorded, no judgment of court was 

entered based upon it, and no one in the present litigation had notice of it, 
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so were not bound by it. 

As Petitioners curiously state, at Pet. For Review page 11: "There 

is nothing in the Stipulation that would affect title so it is required that the 

Stipulation or reduced to a Judgment." It was not, so it provided no 

record notice, nor actual notice, to anyone ofthe successors in title to 

either party, as the Court of Appeals found. 

Petitioners' claim that the trial court somehow improperly rewarded 

trial witness Florence Hubbard by granting her adverse possession, when 

the record is clear that it did not, illustrates the illogical desperation of their 

argument, having lost on the facts and the existing caselaw of adverse 

possession. 

V. CONCLUSION 

There is no merit to the issues presented for review, and this Court 

should decline the Petition for Review.